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W N CRIMINAL LAW the rule is well recognized that
.~ & one who learns of an ongoing crimjnal conspiracy
‘and casts his lot with the conspirators becomes a mem-
“ber of the conspiracy. Once the existence of a conspir-
‘*acy is shown, slight evidence may be sufficient to con-
“~nect a defendant with it. But one does not, become a
- member of a conspiracy simply because of receiving in- -
. formation regarding its nature and scope; he must have
" what the courts describe as a “stake in the success of the
. Venture.” He “must in some sense promote the venture
‘himself, make it his own, have a stake in its outcome ....”
Although- one ‘member of the conspiracy must commit
an overt act, it is not necessary that every conspir'ator do
S0. ‘ o
The indictment returned in the Watergate cover-up
_scase charged that the defendants conspired.to defraud
Jthe United States, to obstruct justice, and to'make false
- statements and declarations, all in violation of 18 U.S.C.
371. The indictment charged that the conspiracy contin-
;ued up until March 1, 1974, the day the indictment was
[returned. And the grand jury also charged that Presi-
““dent Nixon conspired with those indicted. .
Furthermore; the available evidence reasonably indi-
-..cated that the President participated in a conspiracy to
_-violate certain other statutes in addition to those specifi-
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cally charged in the indictment, and that he fairly could
be held culpable, both as a principal and on a theory of
vicarious liability, for additional substantive offenses.

There was evidence that the President conspired with
others to violate 18 U.S.C. 1503 — obstruction of justice
— via the means set out in the cover-up indictment. This
included paying of funds and offers of clemency and
other benefits in order to influence the testimony of wit-
nesses, making and facilitating the making of false state-
ments and declarations, obtaining information about the
ongoing investigation from the Justice Department for
the purpose of diverting or thwarting the investigation.

There was evidence that the President eonspired with
others to violate 18 U.S.C. 1623 — perjury — which in-
cluded the President’s direct.and personal efforts to en-
courage and facilitate the giving of misleading and false
testimony by aides. ‘ ro

There was evidence that the President conspired with
others to violate 18 U.S.C. 201(d) — bribery — by directly
and indirectly suggesting and impliedly offering some-
thing of value — money and clemency in the case of Ho-
ward Hunt, clemency and/or a pardon in the case of
some aides — with the intent to influence their testi-
mony before grand juries, courts and congressional com-
mittees. -

There was evidence that the President conspired with
others to violate 18 U.S.C. 1505 — obstruction of a con-

gressional committee — by corruptly endeavoring to in-
fluence testimony of various persons before the Senate .
Watergate Committee.

And there was evidence that the President conspired
with others to violate 18 U.S.C. 1510 — obstruction of a

o criminal investigation. -

At the very least, evidence establishing that, President
Nixon was a member of a conspiracy that had as its .
' means or objects violations of these statutes would also -
establish violations by Nixon of the particular statutes -
themselves on the theory of Vicarious liability. In addi-
- tion, 18 U.S.C. 2 provides that one who “counsels, in-
duces or procures” the commission of an offense such as
bribery, obstruction of justice or of a criminal investiga-
tion, or perjury by another is “punishable as-a princi-
pal.” :
R4 2
g VAILABLE EVIDENCE was sufficient to make out
at least a prima facie case that the President par-
ticipated directly and personally in each of the four
most important phases of the conspiracy. Also, he was a
major actor in seeking'to conceal the existence and later
the scope of and participants in the conspiracy, which
efforts themselves may be shown to have been part of
the original cover-up conspiracy or, possibly, a second il-
legal conspiracy. ‘

These events appeared to sup
: Vel port the charge of the
President’s direct, affirmative participation in the “hush

- money” phase of the conspiracy:

1. In his meeting 'on the morning of March 21, 1973,
with Dean and Haldeman, the President learned — if he
'did not already know — most of the material facts tend-

.Ing to show the involvement of his highest White House
and CREEP aides in a cover-up effort that had begun

~soon after June 17, 1972 He. was told that covert cash
‘payments had been made to the defendants and why

those payments were made. The President also learned
‘of Howard Hunt’s new demand for $120,000 and of the
dangers that might be posed for some of the conspira-
tors if Hunt told what he knew about the Fielding or
Watergate break-ins or both,
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V 2. The President demonstrated familiarity“ with th'e
fact that payments had been made, volunteering his
own belief that this had been done through a “(?uban
Committee”; suggested they might have to be continued;
told both Dean and Haldeman that what had already
been done could be “handled” in the fgture, even
though he apparently recognized in suggest}ng thgt the
“cover” of the “Cuban Committee” be retamgd for fu-
ture payments that such payments probably amounted
to criminal activity.
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3. The President agreed with Dean that some “new
" strategy” was needed for dealing with the Watergate
problem and repeatedly urged that John Mitchell be
+ called to Washington on an urgent basis to sit down with
Dean, Haldeman and Ehrlichman and develop such a
- new approach. A number of possible strategies were dis-
- cussed.
v4. During the March 21 morning meeting there was
- considerable djﬁ:ssion about the desirability and feasi-
bility of continuing to make cash payments to the Wat-
ergate defendants indefinitely, in terms of the cash cost
of such a course, political ramifications, and possible
course of grand jury and congressional inquiries into
Watergate. On several occasions Nixon reiterated that it
would be possible to get a million dollars for this pur-
pose, he knew where it could be obtained. But there was
also discussion about the difficulties of paying the
money and the likely futility of such a course. _
- 5. The President and Dean agreed that if a course of
paying the defendants indefinitely were followed,
Mitchell should probably be the one to arrange for the
mechanics of delivering the cash. - '

6. With respect to Hunt’s current demand, the Presi-
dent on at least 10 separate occasions during the meet-
ing specifically urged and encouraged that Hunt’s “fin-
ancial problem” be “handled” and “damn soon” in order
to “buy time.”

\.

7. Following the March 21 morning meeting, Halde-
man telephoned Mitchell in New York City. Thereafter,

" it appeared that Mitchell had a telephone conversation
with Fred LaRue. That evening, LaRue caused $75,000 to
be delivered to Hunt’s attorney. i

8. In the late afternoon of March 21, Nixon met with -

- Dean, Haldeman and Ehrlichman. Early on in this meet-
ing, the President again raised the question of ‘what
should be done about Hunt’s demand. Either' Haldeman
oor Ehrlichman told Nixon that Mitchell and LaRue were
“aware of it so they know (inaudible) feeling is.” There
was more discussion about whether anything would be

_done or about the fact that something would be done; in-
audibility of' the tape made it impossible to' determine
the precise import of this conversation.

9. The next morning, Haldeman and Ehrlichman
learned from Mitchell that Hunt’s “problem” had been
“taken care of.” Ehrlichman apprised Krogh that the
possibility of Hunt’s talking had been alleviated.

10. Within a short time afid well before- mid-April,
Haldeman informed Nixon that funds had been paid to
Hunt.

11. On April 16, in a conversation with Dean, the Presi-
dent acknowledged that because the payment to Hunt -
was discussed with him and then paid shortly thereafter,
that “assumes culpability on' that” as to theé President
himself. This statement followed a discussion initiated
by Nixon in which he suggested to Dean that Dean had

! not told him about Hunt’s threat on March 21 but only
about a need by Hunt for money; Dean corrected Nixon
and reminded him of the true chain of events, including

.- Dean’s belief that Mitchell had had the money paid. The
President expressed approval that the money had been
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paid “on the Mitchell level * P

12. Thereafter, the President did not disclose and, in-
deed, apparently tried to conceal from Henry Petersen,
chief of the Criminal Division of the Department of Jus-
tice, the fact that a specific threat by Hunt was discussed’
with him on March 21, and that he had learnéd shortly
thereafter that money had in fact been paid in response
* to this demand. ° ; Sk

13. At about the same time, the President had a num:*
ber of conversations with Haldeman and Ehrlichman in
which he urged them to get a story together about their
understanding of the purpose for which cash payments
to the defendants had been made. On one occasion the
President stated that they did not raise money “to ob-
struct justice,” even though, in fact, the President had
previously been informed that those who participated.
directly in making and authorizing payments did it for
that purpose, and that Haldeman and Ehrlichman had
well understood that themselves. { 1

14. On June 4, 1973, after the President had listened to
a number of his own tape recordings, he stated on sev-
eral occasions that the biggest problem would be the
March 21 meeting, but that Haldeman had been present
at that meeting and could “handle” it in his testimony
before the Senate Watergate Committee.

15. During and after April, 1973, President Nixon re-
Peatedly made incorrect and misleading public state-
ments about his role and that of others in making cash
Payments to Watergate defendants. For instance, on
May 22, 1978, Nixon claimed that he did not know until
March 21 of any efforts to provide the defendants with

funds; and on Aug. 15, 1973, he stated that he was not »

told on March 21 that money had been paid to procure
the defendants’_silence. .
The President himself, while claiming that he did not

instruct that Hunt be paid during the March 21 morning |

meeting, did acknowledge with considerable understate-
ment that the tape recording of that meeting permitted:
“differing interpretations.” The preponderance of the
evidence showed at the very least that Nixon repeatedly
urged that Hunt be paid, expressed the opinion that ,

Hunt should be paid, and possibly instructed that Hunt |

be paid, in order that the conspirators could “buy time”
to work out a new approach to the entire Watergate di-\
lemma. During the eeting the President over and over-

returned to the subject of Hunt’s demand, Not. once did- -

the President instruct that this particular demand for °

money by Hunt, made urgent by Hunt’s impending sent-

encing, not be paid. Thus, at the least, the tape showed _

the President consistently in favor of paying Hunt.
Moreover, the tape showed that his views were ex-
pressed throughout the conversation, including the final
time the subject arose in the meeting. G
Even if Hunt had never been paid on March 21, the-un-

disputed facts still showed that the President learned on.

March 21 of past payments of cash for silence and under-
stood that this was illegal; that he knew that at the least

Dean, Haldeman, Ehrlichman, Mitchell, LaRue and

Kalmbach were involved; that Nixon never took steps to
Inform prosecutorial authorities about these facts but in-

stead suggested to Dean and others (and pursued) a
course of “handling” those payments through a “cover” -

story; that ‘Nixon had numerous discussions with Halde-

man and Ehrlichman in which he urged them to get to-
gether a.consistent innocent story about their role in
making cash payments, and urged them to be sure oth-
ers would also “stick to their line” of an innocent pur-

pose; that after he learned that LaRue had confessed,

Nixon instructed that Kalmbach be informed so that

Kalmbach could meet LaRue’s testimony; and that

Nixon subsequently made false exculpatory statéments
concerning his own knowledge of hush money payments
and the timing of such knowledge. )

)

-

In an ordinary case, the President’s actions wowa
probably be sufficient to permit a jury to conclude be-
yond a reasonable doubt that he joined the conspiracy.
Moreover, the President’s role as Haldeman’s and Ehr-
lichman’s superior must also be considered. For inst-
ance, in a case in which Haldéman and Ehrlichman were

~ corporate vice presidents and the President was their

chief executive officer, the President’s role in “ratify-
ing” past action and assisting his subordinates in con-
cealing it or minimizing their criminal ability for it
takes on special importance because he would be play-
ing a “part” in the conspiracy that only he could play.
That is, when the chief executive officer learns of the
conspiracy he is in a position to end it immediately, but
by permitting it to continue and encouraging it to con-
tinue he is, in-effect, joining up with the conspiracy, and
lending his status and resources to it. At the least, that is
Wwhat occurred in the case of Richard Nixon.
' . %o
HE FOLLOWING ‘events appeared to support the
: charge of the President’s direct, affirmative partic-
ipation in the “clemency” phase of the conspiracy.
L. In January, 1973, probably on the afternoon of Jan.
4, the President had a conversation with Charles Colson
in which, according to Nixon, he told Colson that of
course clemency could be considered for Howard Hunt
on the basis of his family situation. On Jan. 3 and Jan. 4,
Colson had two meetings with Hunt'’s attorney. Prior to
these meetings Colson discussed with Dean and Ehrlich-
man their desire to have Colson reassure Hunt concern-

ing the length of time Hunt would haveto spend in jail,

_ without making any overt assurances.

2. Prior to March 21 the President had a conversation
with Dean in which he asked if the defendants were

" keeping quiet because théy, expected or anticipated

clemency; Dean replied in the affirmative. Nixon asked,
Dean what he would advise on that; Dean said the situa-

* tion would have to be watched closely.

3. At the March 21 meeting Nixon learned from Dean
that Colson had conveyed assurances to Hunt via his law-
yer that Hunt would get out of jail within a year — or at
least that Hunt so understood it. Nixon took no issue
with this information; indeed, later in the meeting he
told Haldeman that, “as you know,” Colson had “gone
around” on the “clemency thing” with Hunt “and the
others.”

4. During the March 21 morning meeting, the Presi-
dent at no point repudiated or rejected the propriety of
the offer of clemency about which he had heard. He did
agree with Dean’s assessment that clemency was “impos-
sible” prior to the 1974 elections, as a political matter,
and questioned Dean about Dean’s view that it would
never be possible because of the political climate.

5. On March 27 Haldeman mentioned to Nixon that a
“super-panel” ideg had merit because it would drag out
the Watergate matter and, since Nixon could pardon
everyone anyway after the 1974 elections, no one in-
volved would be subject to more than a two-year prison
liability.

6. On April 14 Nixon, Haldeman and Ehrlichman de-
termined that the latter should meet separately with
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John Mitchell and Jeb Magruder. Nixon urged Ehrlich-
man to convey the President’s “personal affection” for
Magruder in meeting with him, since “that’s the way the
so-called clemency thing’s got to be handled....” Halde-
man then added, “Do the same thing with Mitchell.”
Later that day, after meeting with Mitchell, Ehrlichman
reported back to the President that he had delivered the
messaée of good feelings to Mitchell (as the tape of their
conversation shows he did), to which the President re-
spopded, “He got that, huh?” Then, as Ehrlichman was
leaving to meet with Magruder, Nixon reiterated, “Be
sure you convey my warm sentiments.” Later Ehrlich-
man reported back that he had done exactly that.

7. On the evening of April 14 Nixon had an extensive
conversation with Ehrlichman about how Ehrlichman
might “move” John Dean around from a position of put-
ting the blame on Haldeman and Ehrlichman. The Presi-
dent stated that the only thing that was likely to be
effective in such an effort was Dean’s realization that if
things went wrong “down the road” only the President
could pardon Dean and restore Dean’s license to prac-
tice law. ) '

8. On April 15 the President told Dean that he, the
President, had been “foolish” to talk to Colson about
clemency for Hunt.

9. Throughout his conversations with Henry Petersen,
the President failed to communicate his knowleglge that
Colson (whether on Nixon’s instructions or in excess of
them) had in effect promised clemency to Hunmt, and

See NIXON, Page C5
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failed to tell Petersen that Nixon himself had urged Ehr-
lichman to make veiled offers of.clemency to others.

10. After April, 1973, the President repeatedly made
incorrect and misleading public statements concerning
his knowledge of this aspect of the conspiracy. For inst-
ance, on May 22, 1973, he said: “At no time did I ... know
about any offer of executive clemency for the Water-
gate defendants.” On Aug. 15 he again stated that he had
consistently maintained a position that “under no cir-
cumstances could executive clemency be considered for
those who participated in the Watergate break-in.” And
on Nov. 17, 1973, he claimed that although clemency was
raised with him by his aides, he “turned it down when-
ever it was suggested.”

To prove the President’s complicity in this phase of
the conspiracy it would be unnecessary to show that he
personally made or authorized explicit “offers” of exec-
utive cilemency to anyone in exchange for their contin-
ued silence. It would be sufficient to show that. with
knowledge that such attempts had been made or might
be made as a part of the effort to conceal the truth from
coming out in congressional hearings or before a grand
Jury the President took affirmative action to assist these
attempts and to conceal that they were being taken by
others. But, as indicated in the 10 points, the proof ap-
peared to be much stronger.

(X X/
HE FOLLOWING events appeared probative of the
: President’s involvement in that phase of the con-
- spiracy that comprehended the counseling, facilitating,
assisting and giving of false statements and testimony:

1. In a public press conference on Aug. 29, 1972, the
President falsely stated that Dean had conducted an in-
vestigation for the White House into Watergate and had
found that no one there was involved.

2. Prior to March 21, 1973, the President learned from
Dean that Gordon Strachan had “stonewalled” investiga-

tors in a number of interviews and would continue to do
S0. '



3. On March 21 the President learned from Dean pre-
cise details of how Egil Krogh and Jeb Magruder had

committed perjury. He then conversed with Dean about

the question of whether Krogh'’s perjury could be de-
tected and/or proved.

4. On the morning of March 21, in a discussion of the
possibility of White House aides going to the grand jury
and of the risk of perjury in case that route were pur-
sued, the President told Haldeman: “If you're asked, you
just say: ‘I don’t remember, I can’t recall, I can’t give an
answer to that, that I can recall.”

5. On March 27 Haldeman suggested to the Pre51dent
that Magruder might-be convinced to admit that he’d
perjured himself on his “own motive” and not as a, part
of a conspiracy.

6. In the period April 1417, Nixon urged-Haldeman
and Ehrlichman to get their story together about what
their position would be on the payment of hush money
since they would have to acknowledge, at the least, that
they knew money was being paid. On another occasion,
Nixon stressed that the important thing was for all those
involved in raising money to “stick to their line” that
money was not paid to obstruct justice; this was after
Haldeman and Ehrlichman had told the President that
those directly.involved had done it for that purpose, and
that Haldeman and Ehrlichman had also known that. On
more than one occasion, Nixon actually urged that such
a story be put forth.

7. In the period April 14-17, Nixon had a number of
conversations with Haldeman and Ehrlichman about

what Strachan would testify to; among other things, the
President urged that Strachan be given full information
about Magruder’s testimony in order to be prepared to
“meet those points.”

8. On the evening of April 17, in a conversation with
Haldeman and Ehrlichman, Nixon learned that Dean
had in fact told Kalmbach the purpose of the raising of
cash funds for the Watergate defendants, and that Dean
had admitted this to Ehlichman. The President replied:
“You can say that he told you on such and such a date
that he did not tell Herb Kalmbach what the money was
for.”

9. On the morning of April 16 Nixon led Dean through
his “recollections” of a number of important events. Nix-
on’s “recollections” did not coincide with the facts. In
some (but not all) instances Dean corrected the Presi-
dent. For example, the President suggested that he had
called Dean in for a “report” in‘late March, but Dean
corrected him as to the timing and circumstances of that
meeting. The President claimed Dean had told him only
“fragmentary” information on March 21 and had not
told him about Hunt’s explieit threat to “bring Ehrlich-
man to his knees.” The President repeatedly told Dean
to be sure to testify that he had asked Dean for an inves-
tigation and that Dean’ had reported back thatno one

was involved. The President several times mentioned
that the problem with clemency seemed to be “solely
Mitchell,” to which Dean replied that it was pnmarﬂy
Ehrlichman and Colson. /

10. The President made a variety of false and mislead-
" ing public statements beginning on April 17 and continu-
ing into November, 1973, concerning his own knowledge
and involvement in Watergate-related events.

11. On June 4, 1973, the President had a number of
conversations with Ron Ziegler and Alexander Haig in
which he stated that Haldeman could “handle” the
March 21 meeting in testimony. Subsequently, Halde-
man testified before the Senate Watergate Committee in
line with the President’s assurances and suggestions.

12. Throughout his conversations in late April with
Henry Petersen, Nixon made a number of false or mis-
leading -statements concerning what had happened on
March 21, and what he-was or was not doing with:the in-
formation Petersen was giving him ‘about testimony
being obtained by the United States attorney.

00

ASED ON the above events, it could reasonably be
said that President Nixon participated in the “per-

jury” phase of the conspiracy in a variety of different
ways, each of which was designed to further the aims of
the conspiracy: to “cut losses” at as low a level as possi-
ble, to conceal the scope of and participants in the con-
spiracy, and to minimize the liability of Nixon’s own
closest White House aides.

First, Nixon learned’in intimate detail that a number

of persons had committed perjury and that at least two
had suborned perjury,and hefailed at any time to bring
this to the attention of prosecutive authorites.

Second, a jury could certainly conclude beyond a rea-
sonable doubt that the President himself urged various
individuals to commit; perjury: his “perjury lésson” to
Haldeman and Dean on Mareh 21, his April 16 meeting
with Dean in which it could be concluded that he
coached Dean about what to say regarding Dean’s con-
tacts with him, and his encouragement of Haldeman and
Ehrlichman to develop: "an exculpatory version of money
payments.

Third, President Nixon was mstrumental in develop-

. ing a “cover story’ respecting the collapse of the con-

spiracy in late March and April, 1973, which he himself
put out in several public statements, beginning on April
17. The cover story implied that the President had bro-
ken the case after an investigation by Dean and Ehrlich-
man and then had “gotten in” the Justice Department
and given them his information. It was demonstrably
false.

Fourth, the President made false exculpatory’state-
ments about his knowledge of hush money and clem-
ency and his attempts to get the truth out.

Fifth, Nixon directly made false and misleading state-

ments to Henry Petersen.. These statements could consti-
tute an offense under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and current case
law interpreting it. On and after April 15, the President
began a series of almost daily meetings with Petersen in
which he repeatedly sought information from Petersen
about the process of the investigation and, especially,
about the evidence being accumulated against Halde-
man and Ehrlichman. On one occasion, according to Pe-
tersen’s testimony, the President pressed for a written
summary of the ev1dence against his top aides, but Pe-
tersen refused to provide it. Nixon justified his desire
_ for this detailed information -on the ground that:he
needed it to make policy and to decide what should be
-done about Haldeman and Ehrlichman. In truth, Nixon *
was passing on information to Haldeman and Ehrlich-
man in order to protect their interests and those of his
other aides, and himself.

In addition to giving information to Haldeman and
Ehrlichman to help them protect themselves, Nixon had
them pass along information to three others for the prot-
ection of those other persotns — all of whom in fact were
eventually charged with conspiracy or alleged to be co-

" conspirators in the cover-up indictment.

Nixon instructed Haldeman and Ehrlichman to notify
Kalmbach that LaRue had made a full confession to the
prosecutors. This was before Kalmbach’s grand jury ap-
pearance in April, 1973. Ehrlichman did in fact have a
telephone conversation with Kalmbach and inform him
of this fact,

Nixon discussed on the evening of April 14 the need to
give Colson a “touch up” on events that were rapidly un-
folding in order to permit Colson not to perjure himself
unnecessarily.

It was obvious from the White House transcripts that
Nixon, on April 1416, was ‘extraordinarily concerned
with the testimony that Gordon Strachan would provide
with respect to allegations by Jeb Magruder that wiretap
material from the Democratic National Headquarters

_had been sent to Strachan for transmission to Halde-
man. On the 14th Haldeman reported to Nixon that Ma-
gruder was cooperating with the prosecution, that Ma-
gruder had implicated Strachan in connection with the
transmission of wiretap materials to the White House,
and that, according to Magruder, Fred LaRue was also
about to confess. Repeatedly over the next several days
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Nixon, Haldeman and Ehrlichman discussed how to han-

dle this situation. The President urged that Ehrlichman

meet with Magruder “particularly” to learn “what the
. hell he is goiif;g\to say al?out Strachan,” agreed that what
~ Strachan “has to do is prove the defense that . . . meets
these points,” and advised that Ehrlichman “should put
Strachan through a little wringer there” in preparing
him for interrogation by the prosecutors.

: L X X

T SEEMED REASONABLE that all of the following

actions by the President would be admissible evid-
ence of his participation in a conspiracy to obstruct jus-
tice and to obstruct a criminal investigation. :

1. Between March 21 and April 15, 1973, the President
made no attempt to bring to the attention of legitimate
prosecutorial - authorities the knowledge he haid ac-
quired that was highly incriminating of many of his top
aides and associates. In fact, Nixon -en two occasions au-
thorized public statements in his name of his continued
confidence’in Dean, who had admitted to Nixon that he
was involved in obstruction of justice. ,

2. On: March 21 and 22, 1973, the President and his
aides decided upon development of a new strategy to
continue the Watergate cover-up. It included prepara-
tion of a written report focusing on pre-June 17 events
that was plainly calculated both to conceal highly in-
criminating evidence of post-June 17 activities and to in- )
fluence the ‘Senate ‘Watergate Committee and grand
jury investigations by narrowing their likely ground of
inquiry, thus preserving White House officials includimg .
Haldeman, Ehflichman, Dean, Strachan .and Colson
from criminal liability. ‘ ‘
.. 8. After McCord'’s letter of March 23, Dean’s reluctance
to produce -a written report, and the beginning of the
collapse of 'the cover-up, the President was a centrai fig-
-ure in developing a different, “limited hang out” strat-
-egy to accord with the developing situation. This in-
‘cluded sacrificing Mitchell and Magruder and develop-
" ing a cover story that Nixon himself had broken the case
by ordering an investigation by Dean and then Ehrlich-
man — the results of which, the President would claim,
he then made available to the Justice Department. Even-
after Dean began cooperating with the prosecution, this
false scenario, rehearsed over and over again in the
presidential transeripts, was put into effect in Nixon's
April 17 public statement and adhered to thereafter.

4. After it became clear that Dean was talking to the
prosecutors, Nixon had numerous conversations with’
Henry Petersen during which he obtained information
from Petersen that he then related to Haldeman and
Ebrlichman in order that they could be prepared to
meet the testimony of those who were -cooperating.
Nixon misled Petersen during these conversations. He
also attempted to prevent Petersen from giving Dean
immunity for fear that Dean could then testify fully
against-Haldeman, Ehrlichman, and possibly Nixon him-
self.



